> STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

FILED 12-27-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal Number 2021AP001732 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC J. DEBROW,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, AND SENTENCE, ENTERED IN THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN D. HYLAND, PRESIDING

> BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > Patricia A. FitzGerald State Bar Number 1015179 229 North Grove Street Mt. Horeb, WI 53572 (608) 437-4859 Attorney for Eric J. Debrow

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. The trial court had granted Debrow's motion in limine prohibiting the state from introducing evidence of Debrow's prior conviction for sexual assault. One of the State's witnesses testified that he observed Debrow enter the alleged victim's room.

Did the trial court err in failing to grant a mistrial where the witness, having been asked by the prosecutor, whether he had learned of anything that led him to be on alert, testified that he looked Debrow up on CCAP.

The trial court denied Debrow's mistrial motion.

II. Did the trial court err where it allowed evidence that Debrow watched a video entitled "Stepdaughter is scared to

Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2021 Page 6 of 39

get fucked while wife sleeps."

The trial court allowed the evidence over Debrow's objection on the ground that Debrow used the specific search terms to find the video, where there was no evidence that he used such search terms.

III. Did the trial court err in allowing M.M.W. to testify, as an other act, that on a previous occasion, she woke up to Debrow in her room, where there was no testimony that Debrow touched her inappropriately.

The trial court allowed the testimony over Debrow's objection.

IV. Should this court grant Debrow a new trial in the interest of justice because improper evidence obscured the real controversy-whether Debrow sexually assaulted M.M.W.

The trial court did not rule on this because it is raised under this court's discretionary authority.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The briefs of the parties should fully present the issues on appeal and develop the relevant theories and legal authorities. Therefore, the defendant-appellant does not believe oral argument is necessary.

Publication is not requested

STATEMENT OF CASE

February 1, 2018, the state charged Eric Debrow with

the second degree sexual assault of M.M.W. as a persistent repeater.(1).

February 27, 2018, following a preliminary hearing, Debrow was bound over for trial. (126:15). An information was filed alleging the same charge.(Id:15; 13). Debrow pled not guilty.(126:15-16).

November 27, 2019, the state moved to joint this case with a complaint filed in Dane County Case Number 2018CF001787, *State of Wisconsin vs. Eric J Debrow*, wherein Debrow was alleged to have engaged in First Degree Sexual Assault of N.N.M. as a persistent repeater (63). At the same time, the state sought to join Dane County Case No. 2018CF002281, *State of Wisconsin vs. Eric J Debrow*, alleging seven counts of felony bail jumping and Dane County Case 2018CF002409, *State of Wisconsin vs. Eric J Debrow*, alleging eight counts of felony bail jumping.(Id)

February 12, 2020, the trial court joined the two sexual assault cases but denied the state's motion to join the bail jumping cases.(127: 33).

March 10, 2020, over Debrow's objection, the court permitted the state to present evidence that Debrow watch pornography entitled, "Stepdaughter is scared to get fucked while wife sleeps." (120:14,23).

March 10, 2020, over Debrow's objection, the court allowed state to introduce other acts evidence, including testimony by M.M.W. "where she would testify that she woke up one time when Debrow was in her room, but she could not say how he

was touching her, but she screamed."(120:32,39). March 9 through March 12, 2020, the trial court held a jury trial.(130, 120, 129, 119, 118).

March 12, 2020, the jury found Debrow guilty of 2nd degree sexual assault of M.M.W. and not guilty of 1st degree sexual assault of N.N.M. (118:99; 85; 86).

August 4, 2020, Debrow was sentenced to life without possibility of parole. (111: 33; 106).

October 1, 2021, Debrow filed a timely notice of appeal.(135).

FACTS

Pretrial

In case number 18 CF 202, the state charged Eric J. Debrow with second degree sexual assault of 13 year old M.M.W, as a persistent offender.(1). Shortly, thereafter, in case number 18 CF 1787, the state charged Debrow with first degree sexual assault of eleven year old N.N.M., as a persistent offender.(63).

Over Debrow's objection, the cases were joined for trial.(63, 68, 127: 30). One reason for Debrow's objection was that the joinder was prejudicial and it violated his right to present a defense because he intended to testify in 18 CF 202 but not in 18 CF 1787.(127:16, 17). As it turned out, he did not testify and he was acquitted in 18 CF 1787 and convicted in 18 CF 202.(118:99; 85; 86).

In his motion in limine, Debrow asked that,

The State be prohibited from introducing any evidence from Dane County Case No. 2004CF384 [1st Degree

Sexual Assault of a Child. 948.02(1)]. The evidence is not relevant (Wis. Stats. §904.01 and §904.02) and the probative value of such evidence, if any, "is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence" (Wis. Stats. §904.03).(75).

The state agreed that the prejudicial nature of the 2004 conviction would outweigh its relevance. (120:6). The court granted Debrow's motion excluding the evidence. (Id.:12).

Over Debrow's objection, the court permitted the state to present evidence that Debrow watch pornographic film entitled, "Stepdaughter is scared to get fucked while wife sleeps."(120:14,23). The court reasoned that if Debrow used those search terms it would be "highly relevant and probative of the sexual gratification element" of the charge.(Id. 22).

The court also held that the state could present other act evidence including testimony from M.M.W. that there was another time she awoke to find Debrow in her room, but she did not recall how he was touching her but she did recall screaming. (120:32

Prior to jury selection, the state presented a plea offer to Debrow, by which Debrow would plead to two counts of second degree sexual assault, the state would drop the persistent offender allegations, carrying the mandatory sentences of life without the possibility of parole, and cap its recommendation at 10 years initial confinement; the defense would be free to argue.(130: 3). The state recognized that Debrow was considering an *Alford* plea¹.(Id.) Pursuant to the

¹North Carolina v. Alford, 400 US 25 (1970), allows the acceptance of a plea of guilty where the defendant protests innocence.

deal, two bail jumping cases would also be dismissed.(Id.4). Debrow decided to go to trial.(130:5).

The parties discussed the plea offer again, the first day of trial.(120:59). Because of the enormity of the penalty should Debrow loose at trial, Defense counsel asked the court for an early lunch break so that Debrow could again consider the offer.(Id.:60-61). Following the break, Debrow pleaded with the court for more time to decide whether to take the plea deal.(129:5,6). Because the jury was empaneled and waiting, the court denied Mr. Debrow's request for more time.(129: 6-7). Debrow decided to go to trial.(129:8).

Trial

Debrow lived in an apartment with his girlfriend, Kim, and her three children; Ivan², M.M.W, and N.N.M.³ (129:39, 41; 119:64). Kim and Debrow shared a bedroom.(119:72). Next to their bedroom was a bedroom shared by M.M.W and N.N.M. (93⁴; 129;43). M.M.W and N.N.M. slept on bunk beds that were arrange perpendicular to each other; M.M.W slept on the bottom and N.N.M. slept on top.(129: 51,48). Next to M.M.W and N.N.M.'s bedroom and diagonally across from the door to Kim and Debrow's bedroom was the door to Ivan's bedroom. (93;129:43,106).

M.M.W testified that she woke up either in the early

² Ivan was 19 at the time of trial.(129:108).

³ Kim and N.N.M said that Debrow's son, L, shared a room with Ivan and was there that night, M.M.W and Ivan said that L was not staying with them that night.(129:82. 106; 119:23. 125).

⁴ Exhibit 1 is a mirror image of the floor plan of the apartment.(129:43-44).

morning⁵ hours of January 17, 2018, or late hours of night with someone touching her buttocks and thigh over her clothing.(129: 41, 51-52). She identified Debrow as the person involved because he is darker and taller than anyone else in the household.(Id.66, 67, 54-55). She screamed and the family's dogs started barking.(Id 51). According to M.M.W., Kim came and got Debrow out of the room.(Id.)

M.M.W also testified about another night that Debrow came into her bedroom when she and N.N.M., were sleeping on a blowup bed.(129:60). She did not say he touched her.

M.M.W admitted she didn't like Debrow before this happened.(Id. 79). In fact, she said she once threw a book at his head and broke window.(Id. 67).

On direct examination, Ivan testified that he was awake when the incident happened.(Id.94). He saw Debrow go into girls' room.(Id.). Ivan immediately thought Debrow was going to do something.(Id.96). Debrow was in the room five to ten minutes.(Id.96). Ivan heard M.M.W scream, "Get out!" (Id.). The dogs started barking.(Id.99). Debrow came out and went into Kim's room.(Id.96).

Ivan said that when he came home from school the apartment was quiet.(Id.102). There was no fighting.(Id. 102). No one had told Ivan what had happened.(Id.97). Nevertheless, he called the police because he had the feeling that something was going on.(Id.97).

Ivan admitted that he and Debrow would fight including punching and kicking. (Id100)

⁵ She told the police 5:30.(129:74).

Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2021 Page 12 of 39

On cross examination, Ivan said his sisters didn't tell him anything so he didn't know if they were telling the truth.(Id.102). He had a feeling when M.M.W yelled so he called police.(Id.). When he got home after school, there was no arguing going on; the house was quiet. (Id.) But his mom was upset because his sister had yelled, "Get out." (Id.103). Ivan did not see his mom get up when his sister screamed. (Id.107). He did not get up either.(Id.108).

Q And at that point, you just went back to sleep, right? A I didn't go to sleep that night, I stayed up the whole night.

Q Okay. I wonder because a little bit ago you said when you woke up in the morning to go to school -- so you're saying you didn't sleep at all?

A I didn't -- I can't go back to sleep because I'm on medication to go to sleep. My meds make me go to sleep. I can't control how I sleep. So I stayed up that whole night. And plus, I stayed up that whole night just to see if he was going to go back in there. (Id. 108)

On redirect, the state wanted to ask Ivan why he thought something strange was going on in M.M.W's room.(Id.110). Ivan had told the prosecutor that he was aware of Debrow's prior history.(Id. 111). The prosecutor wanted to show that Ivan was not irrational for being suspicious of Debrow.(Id.).

Defense counsel strenuously objected on the ground that the defense did not raise the issue of Ivan being suspicious on cross examination; the state elicited it on direct and the defense merely followed up on it.(Id.112). The defense objected to the state bringing out evidence that was ruled impermissible.(Id. 113).

Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2021 Page 13 of 39

The state wanted to question Ivan as to why he watched the M.M.W's door after Eric came out.(Id. 114). The state argued that the point of the defense cross examination was to show

[t]hat it's ridiculous that he was just sitting there watching this door, saw him walk in, then decides randomly not hearing anything to call law enforcement. All of those questions Defense Counsel asked him about that was directly to get at this point for closing argument.(Id.115).

Over the defense objection, the court allowed the state to ask Ivan a question that would not elicit the 2004 conviction as his reason for watching the door.(Id. 116).

The state questioned Ivan as follows,

Ivan, I want to draw your attention to the time frame of when you moved into 15 Adeline with Eric and your two sisters and your mom, okay?

At any point from when you moved in, had you learned anything or heard anything that led you to be on alert that night on January 17th of 2018?

A Yes.

Q And were those based on things your sisters had mentioned?

A No.

Q Are those things that you heard from your mom?

A It's things that I --

Q -- I don't want to get into that --

(Unreportable simultaneous interjections by Counsel.)

THE COURT: -- yeah, we can't get --

MR. HESS: -- Ivan, I don't want to get into that.

THE COURT: You got to be responsive to the ques --

MR. JONES: -- Objection, Your Honor. Objection, move to

strike. Another motion in a minute.(Id. 118).

Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2021 Page 14 of 39

While the court reporter was unable to take it down, all of the parties agreed that Ivan said he "looked him up on CCAP." (Id 122, 123, 124).

The transcript goes on,

THE COURT: I'll -- I'll move to strike.

The question was were those things you heard from your mother, and if you can just give yes or no as far as whether those were things you heard from your mother. We can't get into what they are, because that's hearsay.

THE WITNESS: Well, my mom did tell me --

THE COURT: -- all right, that's fine.

That's all.

MR. HESS: I just wanted to say --

THE COURT: -- that's all --

MR. HESS: -- yes or no.

THE COURT: We can't -- we can't put her words into your mouth in front of the jury. That's why she's a witness if she testifies.

MD HECC. And that's why I have

MR. HESS: And that's why I had to speak over you, and I apologize for doing that.

Your Honor, I have no further questions.(Id.119).

The court then addressed the jury,

THE COURT: All right.

And -- and to the extent that -- as the State was -- was raising an interjection the answer beyond what he gave just now will be -- I'll direct the jury to strike anything else that they -- they heard beyond the witness's statement that he heard from his mother but not the content of anything, (Id)..

The defense moved for a mistrial on the ground that the jury was bound to wonder what Ivan saw on CCAP that caused him to be suspicious.(Id. 123). A curative instruction would not help.(Id.) Given this is a sexual assault case, it would be easy for the jury to assume that Ivan found a sexual assault conviction.(Id. 124).

The court denied a mistrial, opining that the jury might not even know what CCAP is or what it might have shown.(Id. 128-129). In addition, according to the court, the court and prosecutor directed the jurors' attention not to the substance of Ivan's remark but to the fact that it was hearsay.(Id. 129). Further, if a juror knew that on CCAP, one could find public records, the juror might presume it was something such as criminal, small claims, civil or a divorce.(Id. 130,131).

N.N.M. testified about her allegation that Debrow assaulted her. She said did not remember telling the interviewer at Safe Harbor that when she was sick, she was sleeping between Kim and Debrow with her head toward the foot of the bed and her feet toward the head of the bed, and Debrow rubbed her vagina with his fingers.(119:38-39). She said she did tell the truth to the Safe Harbor interviewer.(Id.42).

As an other act, she testified that Debrow came in one night and stood on the M.M.W's bunk and unbuttoned N.N.M.'s pants while she was sleeping on the top bunk. (119:26, 27, 52).⁶ Also, as an other act, N.N.M. said that when she had a nightmare and went to sleep with her mother, she also slept with her head toward the foot of the bed and her feet toward the top, Debrow touched her in her vagina. (Id.

⁶ Although, N.N.M. said that Debrow was standing on M.M.W's bed, M.M.W. did not testify about this incident.

Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2021 Page 16 of 39

30-33).

Regarding M.M.W's allegation, N.N.M. also testified that she was awakened on January 17, 2018, by M.M.W screaming, "Get out!" (119:148-149). She saw a silhouette of someone leaving the room.(Id. 149, 150). She could tell it was Debrow because Ivan had an Afro.(Id.150). Prior to N.N.M. coming home from school that afternoon, M.M.W had not told N.N.M. why she had screamed.(Id. 151).

Kim testified that N.N.M. did not sleep with her and Debrow.(119:126). If N.N.M. fell asleep in their bed, when Debrow came to bed they put N.N.M. in her room.(119:72). If N.N.M. was in bed when Debrow was also in bed, Kim said she would put herself between N.N.M. and Debrow.(119:141).

She said she did not get up when she heard M.M.W screaming.(Id.78). She did not hear from M.M.W what happened until M.M.W came home from school.(119:79,80, 137). Nevertheless, she told Debrow he had to move out before M.M.W came home because he was not supposed to be in M.M.W's room.(119:80). She testified that she pulled a gun on Debrow when she told him to leave.(Id.82).

Officer Ravelle Gillard testified that he was one of the first officers on the scene on the afternoon of January 17, 2021.(119:154). He spoke with Kim and with Ivan.(119: 157,158). Ivan told him that Debrow entered his sisters' room and M.M.W screamed, "Get out."(119:160). Ivan also told Gillard that Debrow had touched M.M.W's buttocks.(119:160). Gillard decided to take Debrow into custody.(119: 162). He led Debrow into the hallway and took him into custody.(Id 163).

Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2021 Page 17 of 39

Sergeant Joseph Engler testified that he was present during the investigation.(119:169). He had Debrow step out into the hallway to place him under arrest.(Id.:171). He told Debrow they were arresting him for second degree sexual assault of a child.(Id.:172). Debrow asked why it had to be second degree sexual assault of a child and not fourth degree sexual assault.(Id.) On cross examination, Engler explained that fourth degree sexual assault is a misdemeanor involving sexual contact between a non-consenting adult and another adult.(Id.). For a fourth degree sexual assault, Debrow could post bail, but for a second degree sexual assault he would be taken to the jail.(Id. 177).

Amelia Levett was a neighborhood resource officer who upon hearing there was a dispatch to her neighbor assigned herself to the case.(119: 183, 185). When she arrived, M.M.W recognized her as the neighborhood officer.(Id. 187). When M.M.W recognized her, she put her head on Levett's chest and cried.(Id. 188). Levett talked with M.M.W with her mother present.(Id:187). Then, she talked with N.N.M..(Id).

Prior to talking with M.M.W, Levett had been informed by one of the officers present that a likely sexual assault had occurred.(Id. 189). She just tried to get basic information from M.M.W because a more thorough forensic interview would occur later at Safe Harbor.(Id. 190).

When she talked with N.N.M. she asked about events of that day and if anything like this had happened to M.M.W before.(Id.191).

Levett said that the girls' bedroom was cluttered with clothing books and toys; there was a narrow walkway to the Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2021 Page 18 of 39

bed.(Id. 196,197).

Detective Lisa Wing, the case detective, testified that Ivan told her he was present when his mom and Debrow had a confrontation and that his mom had a gun.(119: 205). He did not say that in court and did not say that in his initial interviews.(Id.: 205-206).

According to Wing, because in this case, where the allegation that Debrow touched M.M.W on her buttock outside of her clothing, and where they both lived in the same house, whether or not the police recovered DNA would have meant nothing.(Id.: 207-208).

Wing was present when N.N.M. was interviewed at Safe Harbor.(119:208). During the Safe Harbor interview, N.N.M. said when she had been sick, she had gone to sleep in her mom and Debrow's bed because it was closer to the bathroom.(Id.213). She lay in the bed with her head towards the foot of the bed, feet towards the head of the bed when she then felt Debrow touch her with his fingers on her vagina over her clothing.(Id. 213-214). Based on information she got from Kim as to when N.N.M. had been sick, this happened between November 21 and November 27, 2017.(Id.214, 216).

The state displayed texts and played a jail call between Kim and Debrow, wherein Debrow there was discussion of Debrow having been molested and where in Kim said she checked his computer and saw he had watch a pornographic video entitled "Stepdaughter is scared to get fucked while wife sleeps.".(119:221; 140, 94). The state also played several clips of messages Debrow put on N.N.M.'s phone expressing a desire to come home and asking N.N.M to

admit it didn't happen.(119: 232-233; 139).⁷

Debrow chose not to testify.(118:7). The defense rested without presenting any witnesses.(Id.28).

The jury found Debrow guilty of 2nd degree sexual assault of M.M.W and not guilty of 1st degree sexual assault of N.N.M. (118:99; 85; 86).

Debrow was sentenced to life without possibility of parole. (111: 33; 106).

Debrow now appeals.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in failing to grant a mistrial where the witness, having been asked by the prosecutor whether he had learned of anything that led him to be on alert, testified that he looked Debrow up on CCAP.

A. Legal principles and standard of review.

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