Filed 03-24-2022

Page 1 of 35

**FILED** 03-24-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS** 

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2021AP1732-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC J. DEBROW,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT. THE HONORABLE JOHN D. HYLAND, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN A. BLIMLING Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1088372

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Although Debrow does not raise it in his brief, one exception to the admissibility of relevant evidence exists in Wis. Stat. § 904.03: "evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay." As applied to this case, relevant evidence is admissible if its probative value is not substantially outweighed by the risk or danger of unfair prejudice. See State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 772–73, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998).

B. The evidence that Debrow watched a video titled "Stepdaughter Afraid to Get Fucked While Wife Sleeps" was relevant to Debrow's motive and intent.

The State charged Debrow with an offense involving "sexual contact" with a minor. To prove Debrow's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, the State had to show that Debrow acted "with [the] intent to become sexually aroused or gratified." (R.

Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-24-2022 Page 26 of 35

87:5.) The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it concluded that testimony suggesting Debrow watched a pornographic video called "Stepdaughter Afraid to Get Fucked While Wife Sleeps" was admissible for that purpose. (R. 120:21–22.) See State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8, ¶ 27, 306 Wis. 2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867 ("The pornography is evidence of [defendant's] sexual interest, and it is reasonable to infer that he obtains some form of sexual arousal or gratification from viewing it.").

Debrow argues that the evidence was not relevant because there was no indication that he used search terms to arrive at the video, nor was it clear how the video ended up in his browser history. (Debrow's Br. 29–30.) He is mistaken—those arguments go to the weight of the evidence, not its relevance. Debrow was certainly free to argue that he did not seek out this video, and in closing, he did. (R. 118:78.) But the fact that the video existed in his browser history lends itself to an appropriate inference that Debrow watched the video and possibly sought it out, which makes it relevant.

To the extent Debrow argues that the circuit court based its admissibility decision on an incorrect view of the facts—i.e., the use of specific search terms—his argument misses the point. Even if Debrow did not use specific search terms, the evidence still suggested that he watched the video. That information was relevant. The State did not present the evidence as including specific search terms; rather, the evidence was simply that KKL found the video in Debrow's web history, and he did not deny watching it. (R. 95:7–8; 119:116; 120:14.)

Debrow does not argue that the evidence was unduly prejudicial; that is, he does not say that its prejudicial effect outweighed its probative value. Nevertheless, where the crime charged is the sexual assault of a child, relevant evidence may often be shocking to one's sensibilities. But the court is not obligated to exclude evidence simply because it

may be jarring to the jury. Rather, such evidence—if relevant—should be excluded only if the risk of *unfair* prejudice outweighs its probative value. Wis. Stat. § 904.03. The introduction of the evidence here was not unfair, and this Court should affirm the circuit court's decision.

## III. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it admitted relevant other acts evidence.

## A. Wisconsin law favors the admissibility of other-acts evidence.

Other-acts evidence is admissible if it meets a three-part test: (1) it is offered for a permissible purpose under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2); (2) it meets the two relevancy requirements under Wis. Stat. § 904.01; and (3) its risk of unfair prejudice under Wis. Stat. § 904.03 does not substantially outweigh its probative value.  $State\ v.\ Marinez,\ 2011\ WI\ 12,\ \P\ 19,\ 331\ Wis.\ 2d\ 568,\ 797\ N.W.2d\ 399\ (citing\ Sullivan,\ 216\ Wis.\ 2d\ at\ 772–73).$  "Once the proponent of the other-acts evidence establishes the first two prongs of the test, the burden shifts to the party opposing the admission of the other-acts evidence to show that the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by the risk or danger of unfair prejudice." Id.

Wisconsin Stat. § 904.04(2) "favors admissibility in the sense that it mandates the exclusion of other crimes evidence in only one instance: when it is offered to prove the propensity of the defendant to commit similar crimes." *State v. Speer*, 176 Wis. 2d 1101, 1115, 501 N.W.2d 429 (1993). Indeed, the Wisconsin Legislature added the title "General admissibility" to section 904.04(2)(a) when it adopted the common-law "greater latitude rule" in 2014. 2013 Wis. Act 362, §§ 20, 38. Statutory titles "can be persuasive as to proper interpretation and indicative of legislative intent." *State v. Black*, 188 Wis. 2d 639, 651, 526 N.W.2d 132 (1994). The title "General

Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-24-2022 Page 28 of 35

admissibility" shows the legislative intent to generally admit other-acts evidence with even greater latitude for admission in a case of a serious sex crime, such as the crime charged in this case.

The remaining prongs of the *Sullivan* analysis also favor admissibility of other-acts evidence. The second prong on relevance has a statutory presumption that relevant evidence is admissible. *See* Wis. Stat. § 904.02 (title stating "[r]elevant evidence generally admissible"). And the third-prong balancing test also "favors admissibility in that it mandates that other crimes evidence will be admitted unless the opponent of the evidence can show that the probative value of the evidence is *substantially* outweighed by unfair prejudice." *Speer*, 176 Wis. 2d at 1115; *see State v. Linton*, 2010 WI App 129, ¶ 26, 329 Wis. 2d 687, 791 N.W.2d 222 ("The balancing test of the probative value and danger of unfair prejudice favors admissibility.").

Further, "[i]n a sex crime case, the admissibility of other acts evidence must be viewed in light of the greater latitude rule." *State v. Hammer*, 2000 WI 92, ¶ 23, 236 Wis. 2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629. "Under the common law, the greater latitude rule allows for more liberal admission of other-acts evidence." *State v. Dorsey*, 2018 WI 10, ¶ 32, 379 Wis. 2d 386, 906 N.W.2d 158. This rule "has traditionally been applied in cases of sexual abuse, particularly those involving children." *Id.* "This more liberal evidentiary standard applies to each prong of the *Sullivan* analysis." *Marinez*, 331 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 20.

The Legislature adopted the common-law greater latitude rule in 2014 when it amended the other-acts statute. *Dorsey*, 379 Wis. 2d 386, ¶¶ 31, 35; *see also* 2013 Wis. Act 362, §§ 21, 38. Since then, the statute provides that "any similar acts by the accused is admissible, and is admissible without regard to whether the victim of the crime that is the subject of the proceeding is the same as the victim of the similar act." Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(b)1. Like the common-law rule, this

Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-24-2022 Page 29 of 35

statutory rule applies to all three prongs of the *Sullivan* analysis. *See Dorsey*, 379 Wis. 2d 386, ¶ 33. This statutory greater latitude rule applies in, among other things, a criminal case "alleging the commission of a serious sex offense, as defined in s. 939.615(1)(b)." Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(b)1. The statute under which Debrow was charged, Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2), is a "serious sex offense." *See* Wis. Stat. § 939.615(1)(b)1.

## B. The other acts evidence against Debrow met all three admissibility criteria.

The circuit court properly admitted the State's proffered other-acts evidence of Debrow previously going into MMW's room in the night because the evidence met all three prongs of the *Sullivan* test, especially when applying the greater latitude rule.

First, the State offered the evidence for a permissible purpose, which was to show plan or a lack of mistake on Debrow's part. See Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d at 772. The circuit court agreed that the proffered other acts evidence met that purpose, also noting that the evidence that Debrow had gone into MMW's room previously could also show opportunity. (R. 120:38–39.) The proffered evidence was not, for example, Debrow's prior conviction for sexually assaulting a child, which occurred years prior with a different victim and certainly could have suggested to the jury that because Debrow had assaulted a child in the past, he certainly had done so again.

Second, the evidence was relevant, as the absence of mistake tended to show Debrow's intent in touching MMW was sexual gratification. It also showed that Debrow had the opportunity to get into MMW's room in the night without KKL realizing it. And third, the risk of unfair prejudice did not outweigh the probative value of the evidence. The other acts introduced were no more shocking than the allegations

actually charged in the case, nor was there a risk that they would confuse or mislead the jury.

Debrow argues there is "nothing but innuendo" suggesting he touched MMW during the incident in question. (Debrow's Br. 35.) This, again, goes to the weight of the evidence rather than its admissibility. The fact that Debrow went into MMW's room in the middle of the night causing MMW to scream shows that his later incursion into MMW's room was not an error and was likely planned out. Moreover, if Debrow is correct that the other acts evidence did not establish that he touched MMW the first time he went into her room, then the evidence was much less prejudicial than it may otherwise have been. Either way, under the greater latitude rule, the circuit court properly allowed the State to introduce the other acts evidence. This Court should affirm.

### IV. Any evidentiary errors were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

A. Evidentiary errors do not require reversal of a conviction if the State can establish that they did not contribute to the guilty verdict.

"The harmless error rule . . . is an injunction on the courts, which, if applicable, the courts are required to address regardless of whether the parties do." *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 47 n.12, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189 (citing Wis. Stat. § 805.18(2)). "Wisconsin's harmless error rule is codified in WIS. STAT. § 805.18 and is made applicable to criminal proceedings by WIS. STAT. § 972.11(1)." *State v. Sherman*, 2008 WI App 57, ¶ 8, 310 Wis. 2d 248, 750 N.W.2d 500.

"[I]n order to conclude that an error 'did not contribute to the verdict' within the meaning of *Chapman*,<sup>[5]</sup> a court must be able to conclude 'beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational

30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967).

Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-24-2022 Page 31 of 35

jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." Harvey, 254 Wis. 2d 442, ¶ 48 n.14 (citation omitted); see~also~State~v.~Martin,~2012~WI~96,~¶¶~42–46,~343~Wis.~2d~278,~816~N.W.2d~270 (reviewing harmless-error principles and factors).

Appellate courts consider several factors in a harmless error analysis: "(1) the frequency of the error; (2) the importance of the erroneously admitted evidence;" (3) the presence or absence of corroborating or contradicting evidence; (4) any duplication of properly admitted evidence; "(5) the nature of the defense; (6) the nature of the State's case;" and (7) the strength of the State's case. State v. Jorgensen, 2008 WI 60, ¶ 23, 310 Wis. 2d 138, 754 N.W.2d 77. "The standard for evaluating harmless error is the same whether the error is constitutional, statutory, or otherwise." Sherman, 310 Wis. 2d 248, ¶ 8. "The defendant has the initial burden of proving an error occurred, after which the State must prove the error was harmless." Id.

# B. Even if the circuit court erroneously admitted the complained-of evidence, this Court should affirm because any error did not contribute to the verdict.

Debrow's evidentiary complaints focus on two issues: the introduction of evidence that he previously went into MMW's room while she was sleeping and the evidence that he watched pornographic videos with themes relevant to the charges against him. (Debrow's Br. 27–34.) As discussed, this evidence was properly admitted. However, even if it was not, this Court still should affirm Debrow's conviction because it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that these two things did not contribute to the verdict. *See Harvey*, 254 Wis. 2d 442, ¶ 48 n.14.

Neither piece of evidence was critical to the State's case. Although the evidence tended to show intent and lack of mistake, the prosecution with respect to Debrow's conviction focused on the testimony of MMW, who described for the jury waking up to find Debrow squeezing her butt and screaming in response. (R. 129:50–51.) This testimony was corroborated by IS and KKL: IS testified that he saw Debrow go into MMW's room for five to ten minutes before MMW began to scream (R. 129:94–96), and KKL confirmed that MMW screamed, even noting the specific time it happened (R. 119:76–78). Detective Levett's testimony, too, supported MMW's testimony by describing MMW's apparent emotional state after the assault. (R. 119:188.)

The State also established lack of mistake and intent without the evidence in question. Specifically, the time of night as described by KKL and the length of time Debrow was in MMW's room as described by IS showed that Debrow went into MMW's specifically to assault her—there was simply no other reason for him to go into her room at that time of night and for that long. Likewise, there is no reason other than sexual gratification that Debrow would be squeezing MMW's buttocks while she was sleeping.

Without Debrow testifying, the trial came down to a matter of the victims' credibility. Neither piece of complained-of evidence bore on their credibility, and it is clear from the fact that the jury acquitted Debrow of one charge that the evidence did not have a significant influence on the jury. Even in the absence of the evidence, the result of the trial would have been the same. This Court should affirm.

## V. Debrow is not entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice.

## A. New trials in the interest of justice are reserved for extraordinary circumstances.

Wisconsin Stat. § 752.35 confers discretionary authority on this Court to review a claim of error, reverse a judgment, and order a new trial in the interest of justice. *See Vollmer v. Luety*, 156 Wis. 2d 1, 17–19, 456 N.W.2d 797

Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-24-2022 Page 33 of 35

(1990). An appellate court may order a new trial in the interest of justice: "(1) whenever the real controversy has not been fully tried or (2) whenever it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried." *Id.* at 16 (citation omitted).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has recognized two situations when the real controversy has not been tried: first, when the jury does not have the opportunity to hear important evidence that bears on an important issue; and second, when the jury had before it improperly admitted evidence and "this material obscured a crucial issue and prevented the real controversy from being fully tried." *State v. Burns*, 2011 WI 22, ¶ 24, 332 Wis. 2d 730, 798 N.W.2d 166.

Because "reversals under Wis. Stat. § 752.35 are rare and reserved for exceptional cases[,]" this Court should exercise this discretionary authority only "after all other claims are weighed and determined to be unsuccessful." *State v. Kucharski*, 2015 WI 64, ¶¶ 41, 43, 363 Wis. 2d 658, 866 N.W.2d 697.

# B. Debrow has not met his burden of demonstrating that his case is an exceptional one that warrants reversal in the interest of justice.

Finally, this Court should decline to exercise its extraordinary power to reverse Debrow's conviction in the interest of justice. Debrow argues that reversal is warranted because the introduction of the evidence that he watched pornography videos purportedly involving stepchildren was improperly admitted and clouded the jury's view of the evidence. (Debrow's Br. 36.) He is wrong.

As discussed, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it admitted the pornography evidence, so discretionary reversal is not appropriate. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has indicated that reversal under this theory is available only where "the jury had before it testimony or

Case 2021AP001732 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-24-2022 Page 34 of 35

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